BEFORE THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

LEGAL ENVIRONMENTAL ASSISTANCE FOUNDATION, INC.,

Appellant,

٧.

SUSAN F. CLARK, J. TERRY DEASON, JOE GARCIA, JULIA L. JOHNSON, and DIANE K. KIESLING, as the FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION,

Appellees.

FILED
SID J. WHITE
APR 21 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chilef Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 85-204

APPEAL FROM FINAL ORDERS OF THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION IN DOCKETS 930548-EG, 930549-EG, 930550-EG and 930551-EG

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT LEGAL ENVIRONMENTAL ASSISTANCE FOUNDATION, INC.

Ross Stafford Burnaman Florida Bar No.: 397784 1327 South Meridian Street Tallahassee, Florida 32301 (904) 681-2566

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

1. NATURE OF THE CASE.

This is an appeal taken from Final Orders of the Florida

Public Service Commission (Commission), pursuant to Sections

366.82 and 120.68, Florida Statutes. The Final Orders are styled

"Order Setting Conservation Goals" (Order PSC-94-1313-FOF
EG) (hereinafter "Goals Order") and "Order Granting in Part and

Denying in Part Reconsideration" (Order PSC-95-0075-FOF
EG) (hereinafter "Reconsideration Order"). [R 5223-5277; 5398
5412]. The orders set numeric electric utility conservation

goals for four utilities: Florida Power & Light Company, Florida

Power Corporation, Tampa Electric Company and Gulf Power Company.

[R 5223-5277; 5398-5412].

2. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS.

The Commission initiated proceedings to implement rules which require the Commission to set numeric demand side management goals for utilities subject to the Florida Energy Efficiency and Conservation Act (FEECA) and to consider two federal conservation standards. §§366.80 - 366.85 and 403.519, Fla. Stat.; Fla. Admin. Code R. 25-17.001 - .005. [R 5231 "Case Background"].

LEAF's Petition to Intervene in these proceedings was granted by the Commission. [R 19-22; 27-28]. Many other parties petitioned for, and were granted, intervenor status in one or more of the dockets¹. The Department of Community Affairs

¹ The four dockets were consolidated.

noticed its intervention in all four dockets, on behalf of the Governor, which was recognized. [R 23-26;29-56; 163-173; 308-312; 352-355; 374-379; 559-560; 605-609; 808-811; 1251-2; 1301-1302; 1311-1317; 1386-9; 5566-5587; 5645-5657; 5659; 5692-5700; 5714-5715; 7023-7040; 7098-7105; 7124-7128; 9665-9671; 9676-9681; 9686-9694; 9772-9786; 9790-9794;9813-9815; 9821-9824].

The four utilities filed petitions to set conservation goals on March 18, 1994. [R 951-969; 6865-6870; 9563-9568; 10502-10506].

The Commission entered numerous procedural orders. [R 1-18; 313-314; 337-338; 475-494; 555-556; 601-604; 635-636; 782-789; 1289-1292; 1372-1374; 1399-1411; 1429-1431; 1479-1481; 2172-2175; 2471-2475; 2493-2495; 2524-2527; 2542-2676 (Prehearing Order); 2682-2688; 3025-3032; 3041-3048; 6862-6864; 7158-77159; 7171-7173; 9649-9651; 9838-9839].

The Prehearing Order was issued on May 26, 1994 (Order PSC-94-0652-PHO-EG). [R 2542-2676].

The formal hearing was held before a panel of four Commissioners on: June 1-4, 6-10, 17-18, 20-21, 27, 29-30, and July 12, 1994. [R 5231; "Case Background"].

Briefs and Post-hearing Statements were filed on August 22, 1994, by parties other than the Commission's staff. [R 4372-5014; 6953-7017; 9580-9628; 10557-10603]. The Commission's staff filed an unsolicited memorandum making recommendations to the Commission on September 23, 1994. [R 5015-5222].

The Commission held a special agenda conference on October

3, 1994, to decide the issues. [TrSA 1-256]. The Commission conducted the special agenda conference by considering the staff memorandum and oral argument from staff, including the attorney who had represented the staff at trial. [TrSA 1-256]. Parties other than staff were not allowed to participate in the special agenda conference. [TrSA 1-256].

The Goals Order, issued on October 25, 1994, conformed substantially to the staff memorandum. [R 5015-5277; 5015-5222].

On November 9, 1994, LEAF moved for reconsideration of the Goals Order. [R 5278-5324]. The Department of Community Affairs adopted LEAF's motion in toto. [R 5327-5331]. Florida Power & Light Company, Tampa Electric Company and Gulf Power Company responded to the Motions for Reconsideration, and Florida Power & Light Company filed an amended response. [R 5336-5349;5365-5379; 9629-9633; 10604-10609]. LEAF and others requested oral argument. [R 5325-5326; 5332-5335; 10610-10613].

On November 30, 1994, the Commission staff asked Florida

Power & Light Company to clarify its response to LEAF's motion.

[R 5437]. On December 6, 1994, Florida Power & Light Company

provided an informal response admitting errors in evidence which

the Commission staff had used for purposes of preparing the staff

recommendation and containing "reconciliation schedules" that

showed that the CEGRR residential TRC values, certain exhibits,

and in the Goals Order were incorrect. [R 5438-5444]. On December

8, 1994, LEAF replied to Florida Power & Light Company's

comments. [R 5445]. On December 9, 1994, Florida Power & Light

Company filed an Amended Response to LEAF's Motion for Reconsideration. [R 5365-5379].

On December 13, 1994, the Commission staff filed its memorandum (dated December 8, 1994) making recommendations to the Commission as to the disposition of LEAF's Motion. [R 5380-5394]. On December 19, 1994, LEAF requested the Commission staff to file an amended staff recommendation to correct alleged errors. [R 5449-5460]. Staff declined to amend the memorandum.

Reconsideration was considered during the December 20, 1994, agenda conference (Item 4), during which the panel relied on the staff memorandum and oral argument of staff, chiefly the Division of Legal Service's attorney, Mr. Palecki, who represented staff in the proceedings. [TrA 1-13]. Other parties were not allowed to participate since the panel initially voted to deny oral argument to LEAF and others, based upon Mr. Palecki's advice.

[TrA 1-13; R 5399-5400; 5461].

On January 12, 1995, the Commission rendered its

Reconsideration Order. [R 5398-5412; 5461-5462]. The Order made certain corrections to the residential TRC potential for Florida Power & Light Company, and to the percentage of system calculations for Florida Power & Light Company and Gulf Power Company. [R 5401-5402; 5408]. The Order conformed substantially to the staff memorandum. <u>Id</u>. [R 5380-5394].

On January 25, 1995, LEAF filed its Exceptions to Order, or in the Alternative, Motion to Alter or Amend Order.[R 5413-5495].

On February 13, 1995, LEAF initiated this appeal of the

Goals Order and Reconsideration Order. [R 5503-5548].

On March 3, 1995, the Commission staff filed a memorandum recommending that the Commission strike LEAF's motion. [R 5561-5564].

On March 21, 1995, the Commission panel voted to approve the staff's recommendation to strike LEAF's Exceptions/Motion to Alter or Amend Order. [Tr (March 21, 1995); R 5565-A].

On April 10, 1995, the Commission rendered Order PSC-95-0463-FOF-EG striking LEAF's Exceptions and Motion to Alter or Amend Order (sic). [R 5565-B - 5565-G].

The court should take judicial notice of LEAF's April 12, 1995, Motion for Order Directing Appellees to Consider and Respond to Intervenor/Appellant's Alternative Motion to Alter or Amend Order, filed in this appeal, and accompanying Motion to Toll Time.

3. DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER TRIBUNAL.

The Goals Order established numeric conservation goals for each utility for the residential and the commercial/industrial sectors. [R 5254-5266; 5274-5275]. The Order also rejected adoption of the federal standards. [R 5245-5246].

Generally, goals were set for winter demand (megawatts), summer demand (megawatts) and for energy (gigawatt hours), for each year of the ten-year period 1994-2003. <u>Id</u>. However, Tampa Electric Company's goals were set for the period 1995-2004, and the Commission declined to set commercial/industrial energy goals for the years 1995-1999 for Gulf Power Company, placing a "dash"

in lieu of numeric goals and declined to set 1994 goals for Gulf Power Company. [R 5265-5266; 5260].

The Commission ordered that "any utility that does not achieve its annual conservation goals shall be subject to penalty." [R 5275].

The Commission required the utilities to: consider the development of alternative funding sources to promote renewable energy and to submit such proposals during the program approval dockets; conduct certain types of natural gas research and demonstration projects and to submit project plans for approval; study and report on the level of benefits available to low-income customers during the program approval dockets; and conduct themselves in accordance with other requirements set forth in the body of the Order. The Commission established a task force to evaluate the cost-effectiveness of the building code. [R 5275-5276].

On reconsideration, the Commission panel voted to correct various numeric errors in the Goals Order, but denied LEAF's request to set TRC-based goals. [R 5398-5412].

4. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS.

History of Goals-Setting2

In the 1980 FEECA, the Legislature required the Commission to adopt energy conservation goals for most electric utilities and to oversee utility conservation plans and programs designed

² LEAF's Post-hearing Brief contains a more detailed history of FEECA implementation. [R 4593-4603].

to meet the goals. The Commission subsequently adopted conservation goals in Order 9552. 80 F.P.S.C 9:230-239 (1980).

Affected utilities submitted plans and programs, which the Commission reviewed and approved. 80 F.P.S.C. 11:216-368 (1980). For investor-owned utilities, a cost-effectiveness determination was made with a simple utility cost test exclusive of rate impact considerations. Order 9672 (officially recognized at Tr 4422.13-21); 80 F.P.S.C 11:280-281, 285-289 (1980). After the Commission approved the plans, the utilities implemented conservation programs.

In 1982, the Commission, by rule, prescribed uniform filing requirements for conservation cost-effectiveness analyses. [Order 11303 (officially recognized at Tr 140.16-22); 82 F.P.S.C. 11:33-58 (1982); Fla. Admin. Code R. 15-17.08 (1982)]. Three analyses were required for program filings: All Customer Cost Benefit Analysis, Florida Societal Benefit, Embedded Cost Benefit Analysis to Participating Customers³. 82 F.P.S.C. 11:51-58 (1982). Rate impacts were not counted because energy sales grew. [Id. at 11: 33, 36, 53; EX 24, p. 1; EX 39, p. 43; EX 12, pp. 50-63; EX 147; EX 46, p. 38; EX 56; EX 179; EX 59, p.II-15; EX 61].

In 1989, the Commission repealed the goals, adopted part of the preamble to the then-existing goals rule as the new goals and ordered new program filings. [Order 22176, 89 F.P.S.C. 11:253-261 (1989); Order 22180, 89 F.P.S.C. 11:266-270 (1989).

³ The rule also defined "cost-effective" in a manner inconsistent with the RIM. 82 F.P.S.C. 11:37 (1982).

In 1991, the Commission revised the cost-effectiveness filing requirements, adopting the "Manual on Cost-Effectiveness of Demand-Side Management Programs and Self-Service Wheeling."

[Order 24745 (officially recognized at Tr 139.8-15); 91 F.P.S.C. 7:153-154 (1991) (partially reported)]. As with the 1982 rules, the Commission required three tests for all program filings: the Participant's Test, the Total Resource Cost Test (TRC), and the Rate Impact Measure (RIM) test. [Id.]. Subsequently-approved utility plans included RIM-failing programs. [EX 129; 24, p. 1].

In 1993, the Commission amended the goals rules. [Order PSC-93-0641-FOF-EG (officially recognized at Tr 590.13-18); 93
F.P.S.C. 4:665-690 (1993)].

Goals-Setting Process that Resulted in the Orders Appealed

During 1992-1993, the Commission staff, Department of Community Affairs, some utilities, and other interested parties (including LEAF) participated in an assessment of Florida's conservation potential. [EX 89]. The Department retained Synergic Resources Corporation to prepare a report guided by the collaborative. "Electricity Conservation and Energy Efficiency in Florida: Technical, Economic and Achievable Results, Final Report" (No. 7777-R8, May, 1993) (hereinafter "the SRC Report").

Shortly after amending the goals rule, the Commission began setting numeric conservation goals for Florida Power & Light Company, Florida Power Corporation, Tampa Electric Company and Gulf Power Company and required the utilities to analyze numerous

demand-side measures described in the SRC Report and to evaluate other measures employing natural gas, renewable resources and original measures. [R 1-18]. Initially, measure "applicability" was to be assessed and "technically achievable energy and demand savings" provided for measures deemed applicable. [R 3-4].

After reviewing the "technical potential" filings, the Commission specified the measures each utility was to evaluate for cost-effectiveness using the Commission's cost-effectiveness rules governing program filings. [R 475-494]. Results were required to be reported separately for the residential and commercial/industrial classes and for two "portfolios of measures" -- TRC and RIM. For each portfolio and for each measure, the Commission required each utility to report the winter and summer demand savings, the energy savings, and the annual and cumulative rate impacts. [R 5; 475-494].

The utilities filed the cost-effectiveness analyses, termed "Cost-Effectiveness Goal Results Reports" (hereinafter "CEGRR").

[EX 1; EX 3; EX 4; EX 37; EX 52; EX 53; EX 62; EX 64; R 9840
10426]. LEAF informed the Commission that Florida Power & Light Company's CEGRR was legally deficient. [R 778-781]. Various revisions to the initial CEGRR filings were made by the utilities, including Florida Power & Light Company. [R 970-1072; 2348-2408; 7200-9424]. The CEGRR data (as revised) was accepted into evidence. [EX 1; EX 3; EX 4; EX 37; EX 52; EX 53; EX 62; EX 64].

The Goals Order explicitly relied upon the utilities' CEGRR

data in setting goals, except as to the data and analyses for gas substitution. [R 5240-5241]. The Reconsideration Order, however, revealed that the CEGRR data was manipulated "to place the data in the correct context." [R 5401-5402]. For Florida Power & Light Company, the staff said it relied on witness Hugues' testimonial data instead of CEGRR data. [R 5401-5402; 5437; EX 16, Document 3]. In an informal post-hearing exchange, Florida Power & Light Company provided "reconciliation schedules which corrected exhibit 16, using exhibit 3, Table 3." [R 5438-5444; EX 16, Document 3; EX 3].

The Commission Staff's Participation

The Commission's staff, including Division of Legal Services' attorneys, made numerous formal appearances as a party in the proceedings. [Tr 5; Tr 11.22-25; TrSA 4, TrA]. Staff, through counsel, filed a Prehearing Statement that stated a basic position. [R 1559-1576]. The Prehearing Order contained the Commission staff's basic position, along with position on the issue of cost-effectiveness and the legality of specialty goals. [R 2558-2559; 2585; 2601].

Division of Legal Services' attorneys propounded discovery. See, for example, Exhibit 56.

The Commission's staff presented no witnesses. [Tr Volumes 1-36; R 2547-2552]. Division of Legal Services lawyers, including Mr. Palecki, cross-examined witnesses for other parties. Eg. [Tr 437.5 - 454.14; 2297.21-2302.9; 5550.2-5556.11]. The Division of Legal Services' attorneys moved items into evidence on behalf of

staff, most of which were accepted into the record by the Commission. [EX 12; 25; 27; 37; 41; 52; 53; 56; 61; 134; 147; 148].

Division of Legal Services' attorney Michael Palecki and others advised the Commission regarding the merits of other parties' motions and objections during the hearing and during the agenda conferences. Eg. [Tr 15.17-23; Tr 101.10-16; TrA 3.2-4.7; 4.21-8.9; 8.11-9.4; 10.11-12.10]. For example, at trial, LEAF's Motion to Strike the testimony of some of Florida Power & Light Company's witnesses was denied upon Mr. Palecki's recommendation. [Tr 2206.22-2218.23]. At the agenda conference, Mr. Palecki advised the panel on the merits of LEAF's objections to Florida Power & Light Company's late-filed exhibits number 55, 56, 141 and 164. [TrSA 9.10-17.12].

The Commission staff, including the Division of Legal Services lawyers did not file a Post-hearing Statement of Issues and Position, but instead filed an unsolicited memorandum which recommended action on the issues. [R 5015-5222].

Only the Commission's staff, including Division of Legal Services' attorney Michael Palecki, advised the Commission during the agenda conferences. [TrSA, TrA].

The Commission's Office of General Counsel, Division of Appeals, attorneys appeared on behalf of the Commission panel during the hearing, and provided advice at the hearing and the special agenda conference, but not during the agenda conference on reconsideration. [Tr 12.1-2; TrSA 2; TrA; R 2544; 5225].

The Goals

Goals were set separately for the residential and commercial/industrial classes. [R 5254-5266; 5274-5275]. Separate goals were quantified for summer demand savings, winter demand savings, and energy savings. <u>Id</u>. The Commission set goals at the levels partially represented by the RIM cost-effectiveness test achievable potential stated in the utility CEGRRs. <u>Id</u>. In proposing goals, the utilities variously discounted their CEGRR RIM potential. <u>Id</u>.

Florida Power & Light Company's 1994-2003 goals were set as proposed by the utility for the years 1994-2000. [R 5254-5257]. For the years 2001-2003, staff extrapolated the year 2000 incremental utility-proposed goals. <u>Id.</u> Goals were not based on the company's CEGRR RIM portfolio.[EX 3, pp. 36-41; R 5254-5257].

Florida Power Corporation's 1994-2003 goals are the sum of savings from all RIM-passing measures in the CEGRR. [R 5258-5260; EX 37; EX 184].

Tampa Electric Company's 1995-2004 goals are identical to gross RIM CEGRR portfolio. [R 5264; EX 64].

Gulf Power Company's 1994-2003 goals are 100% of the CEGRR savings, except the commercial/industrial class energy goals for the years 1994-1999 are reported as "dash" goals and for the year 2000 as 2 GWH. Gulf Power Company's CEGRR reported negative values for those years. [R 5261-5263; TrSA 140.16-22, 141.18-25; 145.2-3; 146.16-25; 147.1-11; EX 52].

The Commission's assessment of cost-effectiveness was based

upon staff's representations regarding the projected energy and demand savings for the utilities RIM and TRC portfolios contained in the staff's memorandum. [R 5244; 5272-5273; The memorandum contained charts which depicted the "comparison of goals for the year 2003" for the two classes. [R 5016-5018]. The Goals Order and Reconsideration Order contain versions of the year 2003 comparison of goals charts. [R 5272-5273; 5411-5412].

The comparison charts in the orders contain each utilities' proposed goals, the 100% RIM goals approved by the Commission, utility calculated goals based on TRC portfolios, and SRC "Best Practices" Goals. <u>Id</u>. The only evidence of energy conservation as a percent of system is contained in the Synergic Resources Corporation study. [EX 89, pp. V-38-39]. It shows from 1981 to 1991, the four utilities achieved energy savings between 1.2% and 4.8% of system total sales. <u>Id</u>. The Reconsideration Order charts show that the <u>differences</u> between the utilities' RIM and TRC-based energy savings range between 1.1% and 3.5% of total system sales. Further, the findings of percent of system used divergent forecast data and incorrect assumptions regarding utility-assumed conservation levels in the forecasts. [R 5417-5425; EX 13, pp. 37-39, 43-44; EX 39, pp. 11-12, 15-16; EX 46, pp. 7-8, 15-16; EX 59, pp. II-22-27].

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Commission's action must be remanded under several provisions of Section 120.68, Florida Statutes.

The Commission's post-hearing procedures deprived LEAF of procedural due process because of unfair access to the decision-makers given to one party -- the Commission staff -- and the denial of a meaningful opportunity for other parties to respond to staff's advocacy.

The Commission's new policy to require the imposition of a penalty for a utility which does not meet numeric conservation goals was unlawfully applied to set goals based upon the RIM cost-effectiveness test. That policy is inconsistent with legislative intent of FEECA, and the Commission's rules.

The Commission's decision to set RIM-based goals was premised upon a finding of fact that there were negligible differences between utility estimates of cost-effective conservation under two tests -- RIM and TRC. There is no competent, substantial evidence in the record to support that finding, which was based upon other findings comparing the results of the utilities' cost-effectiveness estimates which also lack competent, substantial evidence.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COMMISSION'S POST-HEARING PROCEDURES VIOLATED LEAF'S RIGHT TO PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS.

The Florida Constitution guarantees due process in proceedings before courts and administrative agencies, although agencies do not necessarily have to follow judicial procedures.

Art. I, s. 9, Fla. Const.; Ridgewood Properties, Inc. v.

Department of Community Affairs, 562 So. 2d 322, 323-24 (Fla. 1990); Hadley v. Department of Administration, 411 So. 2d 184, 187 (Fla. 1982). The United States Constitution also guarantees due process. Morgan v. United States, 298 U.S. 468, 56 S.Ct. 908, 80 L.Ed. 1288 (1936); Morgan v. United States, 304 U.S. 1, 58 S.Ct. 773, 82 L.Ed. 1129 (1938).

In the recently-decided <u>Cherry Communications</u>, <u>Inc. v</u>.

<u>Deason</u>, No. 83,274 (Fla. April 20, 1995), this court held that the due process rights of a party to a quasi-judicial Commission proceeding were violated because the same attorney who prosecuted the case before the Commission also served as advisor to the Commission at agenda conference deliberations. The court noted that the Commission adopted in substantial form the staff attorney's memoranda in its final order. <u>Id</u>. at 6.

In <u>Cherry</u>, this court distinguished <u>South Florida Natural</u>

<u>Gas v. Florida Public Service Comm.</u> 534 So. 2d 695 (Fla. 1988),

because of the nature of the proceedings. Further, the court

implicitly rejected the Commission's claim that its procedures

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