### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FOUNDATION, INC.	)
Appellant,	) CASE NO. 85,204
VS.	)
SUSAN F. CLARK, J. TERRY DEASON, JOE GARCIA, JULIA L. JOHNSON, and DIANE K. KIESLING, as the FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION, Appellees.	) ) ) ) ) ) )
	1

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEES FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

ROBERT D. VANDIVER General Counsel Florida Bar No. 344052

DAVID E. SMITH Director of Appeals Florida Bar No. 309011

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 101 East Gaines Street Tallahassee, Florida 32399-0861 (904) 488-7464

#

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

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Commission did not violate LEAF's due process rights in the goals setting proceedings. LEAF should not be allowed to raise these issues on appeal since it did not object and present the matter to the Commission for decision. The Commission's setting of numeric conservation goals was fundamentally a policy-making proceeding. LEAF cannot equate it's due process rights in such a proceeding with those of an individual threatened with deprivation of life, liberty or property. The Court's decision in Cherry Communication, Inc. v. Deason, 83,274 (Fla. April 20, 1995) does not apply; South Florida Natural Gas Co. v. Florida Public Service Commission, 534 So. 2d 695 (Fla. 1988) does apply.

The staff's role in the goals setting proceedings was consistent with the Commission's rules and was specifically explained to LEAF's attorney at the pre-hearing conference. Staff's recommendation was the embodiment of its collective expertise and responsibility to assist the Commission in making complex decisions. LEAF was given every opportunity to influence the Commission's decision that was afforded other parties. LEAF has not shown that the staff was impermissibly biased against its position or that the Commission's decision was in error as a result. The Commission has done nothing which would justify redoing the massive hearing in this case. To re-hear the case would be extremely time consuming, costly and contrary to the interests of the other parties affected and the agency.

The Commission's decision is neither inconsistent with FEECA nor the Commission's rules. LEAF improperly suggests that this Court apply Section 120.535, Florida Statutes, to invalidate the Commission's action. If anything, that statute should provide a basis for a rule challenge, not an appeal. In any case, it has been repealed effective July 1, 1995.

The Commission's decision to set pass/fail goals for utilities cannot be reasonably construed as contrary to LEAF's interest. Although LEAF may disagree with the policy basis of the goals, the Commission's adoption of a fail/pass standard will encourage utilities to implement and promote effective conservation. This is consistent with LEAF's proclaimed interests. LEAF has not been adversely effected by this decision and should not be allowed to challenge it on appeal.

The Commission has indicated that it will consider some form of penalty at such time that it finds that the utility has failed to meet its goals. The Commission at this point has taken no action which directly affects the substantial interests of anyone, and it may never do so. The issue of penalties and their validity is not ripe for decision at this time.

Section 366.01 and 366.81, Florida Statutes, give the Commission broad authority to regulate public utilities and to establish conservation goals in the public interest. The establishment of a pass/fail goals policy is in furtherance of that interest. This Court has specifically recognized that the

Commission must have the authority to effectively carry out its policies, even if it must impose a penalty to do so.

The Commission's rules do not specifically address enforcement mechanisms for seeing that the required numeric goals are carried out. The Commission's decision is not inconsistent with its rules contained in Chapter 25-17, Florida Administrative Code.

The Commission's setting of conservation goals based on the RIM test was within its discretion and based on the entire record of the proceedings. The Commission weighed the relative benefits of adopting TRC-based goals and concluded that as a policy matter that RIM-based goals were preferable. The Commission concluded that, based on the record, the goals based on measures that passed the TRC test but not the RIM test would tend to increase rates and produce subsidies between non-participating and participating customers. On this basis, the Commission concluded that it would not adopt a TRC cost-effectiveness test. It found no substantial basis which would justify adopting measures which would raise rates even slightly.

The Commission's order correctly characterized the difference in savings associated with the RIM and TRC test. The Commission's use of the word "negligible" in the various contexts of its orders is clear. LEAF's attempts to make the Commission's choice of words into the linchpin of its decision are largely semantic and force an argument where none exists.

The Commission's orders should be affirmed.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. THE COMMISSION'S POST-HEARING PROCEDURES DID NOT VIOLATE LEAF'S RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS.

As it has done in various other contexts, LEAF is before this Court again challenging the way the Commission makes its decisions after the hearing has concluded.<sup>2</sup> The Commission has done nothing in this case which exceeds its delegated legislative authority nor has it violated any constitutional right of due process.

# A. LEAF did not properly raise any claim of due process for Commission decision and cannot raise it on appeal.

An appellant cannot raise an issue for the first time on appeal. Castor v. State, 365 So. 2d 701 (Fla. 1978); C.F. Industries v. Nichols, 536 So. 2d 234 (Fla. 1988). Nowhere in its assault on the role of Commission staff in the goals proceedings, does LEAF state that it made any formal objection to procedure which could have been ruled on by the Commission. While LEAF filed various documents, ranging from its Motion for Reconsideration, to letters to staff, to its improper Motions to Alter or Amend, it did not express its belief to the Commission that its due process rights were being violated, nor did it ask for a ruling.

Having failed to properly object and raise its due process claims before the Commission, LEAF now attempts to have this Court declare the proceedings invalid without proper record foundation. The Court should reject LEAF's attempt and refuse to hear the issue. The Court should follow the holding of Ford v. Bay County

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> These include a rule challenge before the Division of Administrative Hearings and subsequent appeal. <u>See</u> discussion pp. 43 below.

School Board, 246 So. 2d 119 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970). In that case, the court refused to find a due process violation where a school board attorney acted both as prosecutor and advisor. The Court's opinion was based in part on the failure of petitioner to object to the procedure at hearing. Id at 122. This case is in contrast to Forehand v. School Board of Gulf County, 600 So. 2d 1187, 1190 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992), where the court found that the issue of the attorney's role had been properly preserved "through appropriate objections made throughout the proceedings . . . . "

If the Court concludes that LEAF has properly attempted to raise some due process argument, the Court should find that the nature of policy-oriented goals proceedings and the Commission's conduct of the case do not support LEAF's claims.

# B. LEAF has mischaracterized the nature of the proceedings and the role of staff.

This Court specifically recognized the critical role of Commission staff in South Florida Natural Gas Co. v. Florida Public Service Commission, 534 So. 2d 695 (Fla. 1988). There, the Court recognized that "the Commission is clearly authorized to utilize its staff to test the validity, credibility, and competence of the evidence presented . . . ." Id. at 698. Again, in its recent decision in Cherry Communications, Inc. v. Deason, 83,274 (Fla. April 20, 1995), the Court acknowledged the validity of its South Florida rationale in recognizing that, generally, "an agency should have great flexibility in carrying out its diverse functions and in the utilization of staff in a wide range of capacities". Id., slip op. at 3.

In <u>Cherry</u> the Court went on to note that "[t]he question we now face is whether the same individual who prosecuted a case on behalf of the agency may also serve to advise the agency in its deliberations as an impartial adjudicator". <u>Id</u>., slip op. at 4. However, any similarities between the issues in raised in <u>Cherry</u> and the Commission's goals decision urged by <u>LEAF</u> are superficial at best. The <u>Cherry</u> analysis cannot apply.

In order to invoke the Cherry model in support of its due process arguments, LEAF has fundamentally mischaracterized the nature of the proceedings before the Commission. LEAF notes at page 15 of its Brief, that, in Cherry, this Court distinguished South Florida Natural Gas "because of the nature of proceedings". LEAF then goes on to pay lip service to the Court's holding in South Florida Natural Gas, but then proceeds to develop a faulty syllogism to tie its arguments to the Cherry rationale. LEAF concludes that ratemaking is quasi-legislative, distinguished from the quasi-judicial functions performed by the Commission. LEAF reasons that the license revocation proceeding in Cherry was clearly a quasi-judicial function; the proceedings in the numerical goals dockets were quasi-judicial (because the Commission determined "disputed issues of material fact"), therefore, the Cherry rationale applies. Brief at 17-18. LEAF is mistaken.

In <u>Cherry</u>, this Court recognized that the company was invoking that concept of due process which involves governmental deprivation of some interest in life, liberty or property. The

Cherry case involved the revocation of the company's right to do business in Florida as a reseller of long distance telephone service. The resolution of the issues turned on "contested factual issues concerning that individual". Kenneth Culp Davis and Richard J. Pierce, Jr., Administrative Law Treatise, 3rd Ed., II, 7. The Commission's determination in the Cherry proceedings were quasijudicial because they involved individual rights and turned on the resolution of "adjudicative facts", which are "facts, which usually answer the questions of who did what, where, when, how, why, with what motive or intent; . . . roughly the kind of facts that go to a jury in a jury case". Id.

In the goals docket proceedings, the Commission was not conducting a proceeding which threatened to deprive any individual of life, liberty or property in any recognizable sense. Certainly, the proceeding did not involve the determination of such interests based on facts associated with an individual or individual rights. Rather, the Commission's proceedings were fundamentally quasilegislative, directed toward implementation of the policy contained in FEECA and the Commission's rules. No decision could ultimately be a clearer policy choice than the central issue contested by LEAF, i.e., what cost-effectiveness test should be applied to set numeric conservation goals.

The Commission's proceedings were not a backward-looking attempt to determine who did what, when, where and how. Rather the goals proceed were concerned with what policy should be implemented in the future to carry out effective conservation programs for

Florida utilities and their ratepayers. As such, the Commission's determination hinged not on adjudicative facts, but other facts developed as the basis of setting broad policies. Such facts have been characterized as "legislative facts", and are defined as facts which "do not describe the individual who is uniquely affected by the government action or that individual's past conduct. Rather, legislative facts are the general facts that help a government institution decide questions of law, policy and discretion". <u>Id</u>.

That the numeric goals proceedings were conducted pursuant to Section 120.57(1), Florida Statutes, does nothing to change the basic nature of the proceedings. The Commission conducts virtually all of its hearings under the formal procedures of 120.57(1), except rulemaking proceedings. This includes the rate case proceedings recognized by the Court in South Florida Natural Gas. The concept of quasi-judicial versus quasi-legislative does not hinge, as LEAF mistakenly assumes, on resolution of "disputed issues of material fact" through the taking of sworn testimony and evidence. It is the underlying purpose of the proceeding, not the formal structure, that is determinative.

It would be stretching the concept of adjudication of individual rights, or "prosecution", to the limits to agree with LEAF's conclusion that the Commission's staff attorney "prosecuted the case" on behalf on the Commission staff. Whatever due process rights LEAF may have had in a conservation goal setting proceedings are founded in its right to participate in a policy-making decision. LEAF's rights do not rise to the level of those of

Cherry Communications in seeking to defend its license. LEAF was admittedly a "full party" recognized by the Commission to have some substantial interest in the proceedings under the Florida Administrative Procedure Act (APA). But that in itself does not invoke the entire panoply of due process rights that an individual might have in an adjudication of personal interests. Even if LEAF asserts that its interests are those of Florida ratepayers, ratepayers' rights are limited to rates that are fair, just and reasonable and not unduly discriminatory. Section 366.05, Florida Statutes.

The Commission agrees with LEAF that there is a right of due process in Florida which applies to administrative agencies. However, the Commission also agrees with this Court in Hadley v. Department of Administration, 411 So. 2d 184, 187 (Fla. 1982), that "[t]he extent of procedural due process protection varies with the character of the interest and the nature of the proceeding involved". LEAF's interest in this case was that of an intervenor who could be affected to one degree or another through the impact of the Commission's conservation decisions on rates and service. As such LEAF was entitled to participate to the extent guaranteed by section 120.57(1)(b), Florida Statutes. There is no dispute that LEAF was afforded those opportunities. LEAF participated as a full party, presented evidence, conducted discovery and extensive cross-examination, responded and made argument as provided by the Commission's procedural orders and applicable rules. LEAF was afforded all rights conferred by the APA and enjoyed every

privilege and opportunity afforded to the other 18 parties to the proceeding.

Notwithstanding that LEAF indisputably was given a full opportunity to present its position, and notwithstanding that LEAF was in no sense the subject of a "prosecution" brought by the staff of the Commission, LEAF nevertheless cries foul. LEAF blusters about the participation of the staff as a "party"; the filing of the staff's "unsolicited" recommendation for disposition of the case and the exclusion of LEAF and other parties from the decision-making process at agenda conference. All this LEAF labels "unconstitutional procedures" and concludes that one party, the Commission staff, was afforded "special advantage" in influencing the decision. Despite LEAF's best efforts to make staff into an adversarial and biased party, neither the facts nor the law supports such a notion.

## C. The staff's role in the goals docket setting proceeding does not give rise to a claim of deprivation of due process under Florida law.

To force its argument, LEAF deliberately mischaracterizes the nature of the staff's participation in this case and LEAF's knowledge of applicable procedures. Thus, LEAF refers to the staff as a "full party" and makes much of the entry of an appearance by Mr. Palecki and other legal staff members on behalf on the Commission staff. Brief at 19-20.

The staff was authorized by rule to make an appearance as a "party" at the proceedings. Rule 25-22.026(3), Florida Administrative Code. It is difficult to imagine how else they

could be recognized and have the opportunity to carry out their job of helping to develop the record for the Commission.

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